1950

# Tacea Tsouras v. Brighton and North Point Irrigation Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The plaintiff is the owner of a farm situated in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, adjacent to and East of Redwood Road in the vicinity of 30th South. It lies entirely between Redwood Road and the Jordan River (R. 53, 54 and 55). The defendant, the Brighton and North Point Irrigation Company, a corporation, owns and operates the Brighton and North Point Canal which diverts water from the Jordan River in the vicinity of Murray, Utah, and runs thence in a Northwesterly direction to the Municipal Airport, west of Salt Lake City, Utah. The defendant's canal crosses the plaintiff's farm, which will hereafter be referred to as the Tsouras farm, and at that point runs in a general Northerly direction parallel to and West of the Jordan River (Plaintiff's Exhibit M).

For the purpose of clarity and to assist the Court, the following is a rough sketch copied from the one used at the trial, not drawn to scale, but shows generally the relative position of the defendant's canal to the portion of the Tsouras farm involved in this action (Plaintiff's Exhibit M).

The canal enters the Tsouras farm at point A, runs North-erly, and leaves the farm at point B (R. 57). Area 4 is thus bounded on the East by the canal; areas 1, 2 and 3 are bounded



on the West by the canal (Plaintiff's Exhibit M). A lateral of the North Jordan Canal runs North, bounding area 4 on the high ground on the West and adjacent thereto, and is used by the plaintiff to irrigate area 4 (R. 111, 225, 278 and 279).

Area 4 contains about six acres, areas 1 and 2 each contain two acres, and area 3 contains approximately five acres (R. 59, Plaintiff's Exhibit M). A private road of the plaintiff bounds the property on the South and a wooden bridge crosses the canal at point A (Plaintiff's Exhibits A, B and M—Defendant's Exhibit 1, R. 57). There is an irrigation ditch immediately East of the defendant's canal, running between points A and D (Plaintiff's Exhibit M-R). This ditch is used to irrigate areas 1, 2, 3 and 5, by water taken from headgates situated at point C and near point B (R. 121). There are also irrigation ditches running from point C to J to H, and from B to M to G. These latter two irrigation ditches continue Easterly leaving the plaintiff's land at points G and H respectively.

A drainage ditch is constructed from B-D-K-L to F and continues Easterly to the Jordan River. There is also an irrigation ditch between J and K, connecting the ditch C-J with the ditch B-K-K-L and F (R. 58, 59 and 60—Sketch and Plaintiff's Exhibit M).

The general slope of the land involved in this action is from the West, near the lateral of the North Jordan Canal, to the East toward the Jordan River (Plaintiff's Exhibit N, Defendant's Exhibit No. 1). The slope in area 4 is rather abrupt toward



the defendant's canal, and there are two water holes near the West side of the canal, as the irrigating water from the lateral on the North Jordan Canal drains toward the defendant's canal and there is no facility for drainage to the East after it reaches the West bank of the said canal, between points A and D (Plaintiff's Exhibits E, F, H, J and I and N—Defendant's Exhibit 1—R. 224, 225, 369 and 437). The slope in areas 1, 2, 3 and 5 is gradually to the east and toward the Jordan River (Plaintiff's Exhibit K, L and N—Defendant's Exhibit 1).

The Skogg property adjoins the Tsouras farm on the North beyond the line B, M and G (R. 125).

The Tsouras farm is afforded a free water right from the defendant company. The company has the obligation of maintaining the banks of the canal and the plaintiff the obligation of keeping in repair and maintaining the headgates at C and B (R. 279, 280 and 420).

The plaintiff's farm in the area of the canal is poor grade farming land (R. 336, 339, 351, 392, 422 and 423). Sand holes are common throughout the area and there is a high water table. The Jordan River determines this water table (R. 222, 223 and 224). Witness Burnham testified that the areas generally were covered with weeds, salt grasses, red alkali grass, bayonet grass, tules and bulrushes and that area 4 particularly had not been cultivated for several years as evidenced by this variety of vegetation (R. 335, 338, 346, 347—Plaintiff's Exhibits F, G, J and K).

There was no water in the canal in the Spring of 1948 until May 18th or 19th (R. 126 and 370). It had been a dry Spring prior to that time (R. 370). On the day the water

was first turned into the canal, the water master and his assistant went through its course, cleaning weeds and other debris from the channel (R. 397). There was at least a 14-foot open channel traversing the Tsouras farm (R. 205, 206, 228 and 233 and 249). Some three or four days after the water was turned into the canal, it began to rain heavily (R. 370). This continued off and on for the next two weeks (R. 281). This caused the Jordan River to suddenly rise and reach flood stage (R. 124, 281, 282 and 284).

The high water carried large amounts of weeds, trees and other debris down the river, lodging against the weir, where water was diverted into the defendant's canal (R. 230, 231, 281, 282 and 283, 374 and 375). The defendant company had no warning of this flash flood and its water master, assistant water master, and president did everything possible to promptly remove the debris as its weir and to otherwise endeavor to keep the flood waters out of the canal (R. 235, 268, 281, 282, 283, 374 and 375). This flood caused at least 50 per cent more water to flow into the canal (R. 283, 303, 304, 387, 388 and 389).

As a result of this flood, water from the canal overflowed the West bank into area 4, just North of point A on the Tsouras farm. This created a lake covering approximately one-half of the six-acre plot (R. 115). The water remained for several weeks as the terrain afforded no drainage from this area and water flooded into the canal from Jordan River for several days (R. 151, 152 and 306).

The flood also caused water to flow over the headgates at points C and B, as those points were lower than the level

of the bank on the East side of the canal. The water from headgate C flowed into the irrigation ditch adjoining the canal and ran South toward A and covered portions of area 1. Plaintiff could have diverted this water into ditch C-J-H but refused to on the ground that it was the responsibility of the canal company to alleviate the condition (R. 132, 133 and 304).

During this abnormally high water period, the Jordan River flooded extensively and water from it flowed West in the drainage ditch F-L-K and D (R. 124, 125 and 126). All of area 5 was inundated (for which no damage was claimed), about one-third of area 3 was covered with water, and the Northeasterly portion of area 2 was flooded from this source (R. 125, 126, 309, 310, 312 and 433). Water from the defendant's canal also flooded somewhat over the East bank between A, C and D during this period and covered parts of area 2 (R. 88, 89 and 206).

As a result of this flood in 1948 and consequent high water table, the crops in the Easterly one-half of area 4, and those growing in areas 1, 2, 3 and 5 were damaged to some extent (R. 264, 265, 266, 347, 412 and 413).

In the Fall of 1948, the defendant company undertook repairs on the canal and cleaned and removed therefrom silt, weeds, tules and bulrushes Northward from point A to where the canal passed through the Skogg property beyond point B (R. 196 and 197). This work was done by a professional shovel operator and the clay sealer on the banks or bottom of the canal was not disturbed whatsoever during

these operations (R. 197, 198, 199, 202, 274, 299, 318, 319, 327, 350, 358, 359, 362, 363, 364 and 460).

The plaintiff caused her farm to be plowed in the Fall of 1948. The Winter of 1948-49 was one of unusual severity and abnormal snow fall was experienced. The plaintiff contended that after the water was turned into the canal on about May 14, 1949, (R. 484) the areas East of the canal became damp and soggy and could not be used. However, this condition apparently was the same in the Spring before water was turned into the canal as it was in the summer, and was directly due to the high water table present in that entire area as a result of the previous severe Winter R. 444). During the course of the trial, LeRoy C. Chadwick, a professional engineer, made an examination of the Tsouras farm land near the defendant's canal and compared it with the Skogg land North and East of the canal. He found the land in both instances to be damp and three (3) inches below the ground surface, found the soil to be "damp enough to wad up in your hand and stay in a ball." This was in the latter part of September (R. 441). This same condition existed on the Skogg property some 400 feet away from the defendant's canal (R. 441 and 445). Chadwick observed the water table in this entire area to be only about three (3) feet below the surface of the ground at the time of the trial and concluded that it affected the soil because the capillary attraction would bring the water to the surface (R. 442). This same condition existed throughout the area involved in the suit (R. 442, 443, 449 and 451). Chadwick could find no evidence of seepage in the area adjacent to the defendant's canal (R. 445, 446, 447 and 457). There had been no flooding in 1949 (R. 145 and 178).

In 1948 the plaintiff claims to have planted onions in area 1, and wheat and lucerne in areas 2, 3 and 4 (R. 121). In 1949, one-half of area 1 was planted in onions and one-half in wheat, while areas 2 and 3 were not planted (R. 178). Area 4 was also not planted in 1949 (R. 116). The plaintiff hired no labor to perform the work on her farm as her immediate family did the work (R. 137 and 138).

At the conclusion of the trial, the Court in the company of counsel for the plaintiff and defendant, visited the Tsouras farm for the purpose of observing the areas adjacent to the canal (R. 459). Several test holes were present in area 1 and water could be observed about 2½ feet below the surface of the ground. This same damp condition existed throughout the entire area even though no seepage could be observed along the banks of the canal or in the adjacent irrigation ditches.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

Point I. The defendant is not an insurer against damages resulting from the overflow or seepage of water from its canal and is liable only for its negligence.

Point II. Findings of Fact Nos. 5 and 6 that the defendant was negligent in the operation and maintenance of its canal are not supported by any competent evidence and are contrary to the testimony of plaintiff's own witness Gedge.

Point III. Finding of Fact No. 7 to the effect that defendant had so dredged and widened the canal as to cause

seepage of water upon plaintiff's lands in 1949 is not supported by any competent evidence.

Point IV. The court erred in making and entering Finding of Fact No. 9 that the "condition and operation" of defendant's canal caused flooding and seeping of water on the plaintiff's farm destroying crops planted thereon and making it unfit for growing crops.

Point V. The court erred in making Finding of Fact No. 13 to the effect that it is not true that plaintiff made no effort to mitigate damages.

Point VI. The court erred in finding damages consisting of loss of profits from farm crops, and entering judgment therefor, without taking into consideration the cost of planting, cultivating, irrigating, harvesting and marketing the crops and the salvage value thereof, and in some instances without any supporting evidence.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE DEFENDANT IS NOT AN INSURER AGAINST DAMAGES RESULTING FROM THE OVERFLOW OR SEEPAGE OF WATER FROM ITS CANAL AND IS LIABLE ONLY FOR ITS NEGLIGENCE.

The rule is well settled in this state that an irrigation company is not liable for damages resulting from the overflow or seepage of water from its canal unless negligence in the

construction, operation or maintenance of the canal is pleaded and proved.

West Union Canal Co. v. Provo Bench Canal & Irrigation Co., 208 P. 2d 1119;

Mackay v. Breeze, 72 Utah 305, 269 P. 1026;

Chipman v. American Fork City, 46 Utah 134; 148 P. 1103;

Jensen v. Davis and Weber Canal Co., 44 Utah 10; 137 P. 635;

Wilkinson v. State, 42 Utah 583, 134 P. 626.

The owner and operator of a ditch or canal is not an insurer against damages to others caused by its water.

West Union Canal Co. v. Provo Bench Canal & Irrigation Co., *supra*.

3 Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights, 2nd Ed. p. 3080, and cases there cited.

The fact that water flows over the bank of a canal or ditch does not give rise to a presumption of negligence.

Wilkinson v. State, *supra*.

In the case last cited, this Court held:

"The ditch owner is not liable merely because the break or escape occurred but only if it occurred through his negligence. Negligence must be shown. It is not even a case of *res ipsa loquitur*, and negligence is not presumed from the mere fact that a break or escape occurred . . . The ordinary rule of negligence, that there must be a failure to use the care which an ordinary prudent man would have taken under the circumstances, applies."

The rule is quoted from Wiel, *Water Rights in the Western States* (3rd Ed.) Sec. 461.

In 3 Kinney on Irrigation and Water Rights (2nd Ed.) at page 3082, it is stated:

"But negligence cannot be presumed from the mere fact of the breaking of the ditch or canal, without other evidence, so as to shift the burden of proof upon the defendant to relieve himself from negligence."

On pages 3083 and 3084 the author continues:

"The conveyance of water from the natural streams to the place of use for all beneficial purposes, being a legitimate and most necessary enterprise, especially in the Western portion of this country, and protected and encouraged by the law to the fullest extent possible, and the liability of ditch owners for damage from overflow, leakage, seepage or the escape of the water in any manner depending upon the negligence of the ditch owner, and the actual injury caused thereby, there is, therefore, no liability imposed upon the owner of a canal or ditch, existing by lawful authority, for damages resulting from the mere existence of a ditch or canal, ipso facto. In order for the plaintiff to recover damages in ditch and canal cases not only must there have been actual injuries, but those injuries must have been caused by some negligent act upon the part of the ditch owner."

It has been held that where water overflows from a ditch or canal as a result of a flood or storm of unusual severity the irrigation company is not liable. *Wilkinson v. State*, supra. In that case the Court said:

"With respect to this point the fallacy of respondent's contention consists in assuming that unless it is established that the flood causing the damage in ques-



tion was unprecedented, and therefore constituted an act of God, appellants are liable. The law is that in making improvements like the one in question the one making them 'is under no obligation to anticipate or provide against extraordinary floods. A flood within in meaning of this rule need not necessarily be unprecedented.' 3 Farnham, Water and Water rights, sec. 990. Negligence or incompetency under circumstances like those in the case at bar is therefore not established for the sole reason that the flood causing the damages may not have been unprecedented."

## POINT II

FINDINGS OF FACT NOS. 5 and 6 THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS NEGLIGENT IN THE OPERATION AND MAINTENANCE OF ITS CANAL ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY ANY COMPETENT EVIDENCE AND ARE CONTRARY TO THE TESTIMONY OF PLAINTIFF'S OWN WITNESS GEDGE.

It is alleged in the amended complaint (R. 20) as follows:

"5. That prior to May 1, 1948, defendant allowed said canal at the place where it crossed plaintiff's land to become obstructed by debris and vegetation to the extent that it would not carry the water turned into said canal by defendant without overflowing onto plaintiff's land, and allowed the banks of said canal where said canal passed over the property of plaintiff to become out of repair to the extent that said banks became insufficient to contain the water turned into said canal by defendant.

6. That subsequent to May 1, 1948, and on numerous occasions thereafter, defendant diverted water into said canal in such amounts that said water overflowed the banks of said canal, thereby flooding the real prop-

erty owned by plaintiff to a great and damaging extent, and that on each of said occasions, defendant was given notice by plaintiff of such overflow, but that defendant failed and refused to reduce the flow of water through said canal so as to stop such overflow, despite such notice."

The quoted paragraphs contain the only allegation of negligence upon which the claim of plaintiff to damages for flooding is based. It will be noted that the specific acts of negligence charged, consisting of both acts of omission and acts of commission, are (a) allowing the canal to be obstructed by debris and vegetation to the extent that it would not carry the water turned into it by the defendant, (b) allowing the banks to become out of repair to the extent that the canal would not carry the water, (c) that subsequent to May 1, 1948 the defendant diverted more water into the canal than it would carry, and (d) that defendant failed to stop the overflow after notice was given by the plaintiff.

Findings of Fact Nos. 5 and 6 are practically word for word the same as the paragraphs quoted from the Amended Complaint (R. 35).

It will be observed that the pleadings and the findings as to negligence are very general. It is alleged and found that the acts of omission (a) and (b) above occurred sometime prior to May 1, 1948, and the acts of commission (c) and (d) occurred subsequent to May 1, 1948. The testimony of plaintiff's witnesses is equally vague as to time, and a search of the record will reveal no competent testimony to support the findings of negligence. The testimony of plaintiff's witnesses will be analyzed and commented on in some detail.

Andrew Takas, son-in-law of plaintiff, testified that the canal "was full of bulrushes and had weeds and everything and rocks in it, so it would not carry the water" and the water had to go over the bank (R. 61). At a point about 10 feet south of "No. 1 headgate" (we assume the witness meant point C), water went over the bank, the water covered about 3 feet and was two or three inches deep. The court's remark (R. 64) that "He said there was an area ten feet wide" is not supported by the evidence. There is general testimony that at some time or other for an unknown period water ran from the canal on areas one and two. The witness testified that five acres in area three, two acres in area two and two acres in area one "were affected by the water going over" (R. 66). The testimony is that water was going over the west side of the canal practically all the way along flooding three acres in area four. Takas said areas one, two and three were "soggy" throughout the summer.

The only testimony of Takas which indicates specifically when the flooding occurred is given in response to a leading question:

Q. In the month of May did it go over the bank more than once?

A. Yes (R. 62).

Q. How many times would you say?

A. I would say once or twice anyway in the month of May that I saw it.

Q. You say it flooded a number of times in May?

A. Yes.

Exhibits A to L are photographs identified by Takas. It will be noted that Exhibits A and B were taken from the bridge (A on the map) and shows a wide clear open channel with bulrushes only on the side. The standing water shown on Exhibits E and I is on area four west of the canal (R. 72). Exhibit H shows area four (R. 73). Exhibits I and J also show water standing on area four. This water flowed over the bank during the May and June floods hereinafter described and was trapped there (R. 115).

The evidence summarized above is the only testimony of Takas in the record which bears upon the question of negligence. Upon careful analysis it will be observed that the place where the bulrushes, weeds and rocks and "everything" caused the water to go over the bank is not given. The photographs Exhibit A and B show a wide clear channel. There is testimony that water two or three inches deep ran over the east bank. No testimony is given as to the condition of the banks or any alleged acts of neglect with reference thereto. The only testimony of any value is that water went over the banks in certain places.

The testimony of other witnesses for the plaintiff except witness Gedge's testimony which will be considered separately and in detail is equally general, vague, and inconclusive as to the causes of the overflow of water from the canal.

John E. Hill testified at length as to the results of the overflow of water. His only testimony as to any negligence in the operation and maintenance of the canal consists of his conclusion that the canal was not properly cleaned. "It would not take a flow of water because of its not having been clean-

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