1950

Tacea Tsouras v. Brighton and North Point Irrigation Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT of the STATE OF UTAH

TACEA TSOURAS,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

vs.

BRIGHTON AND NORTH POINT
IRRIGATION COMPANY,
Defendant and Appellant.

Case No.
7454

PLAINTIFF'S BRIEF

STATEMENT

Respondent sued appellant for damages arising from losses to crops planted on her farm, and was granted judgment for damages suffered in 1948 and in 1949, a period of two seasons.

The damages for each year arose from entirely different factors.

In the year of 1948, the loss was suffered by reason of the canal of appellant overflowing its banks throughout the summer, thereby depositing too much water on the land adjacent to the canal, and making the growing of crops, already planted there, impossible.

The damage in 1949 arose because the canal was dredged improperly in the Fall of 1948 by defendant and, when water was turned into the canal in the Spring of 1949, a seepage condition arose by reason of the sealer from this canal being removed the previous Fall, which affected parts of respondent's farm, by causing the ground to become so damp that it would not grow crops, nor was it capable of cultivation, for the year 1949.

Considerable confusion, in analyzing this case, can be averted, if these two features are kept separate. Appellant has failed to do this in its brief. These two aspects will be discussed separately in this brief.

The first five points, raised in appellant's brief, deal exclusively with the proposition that the evidence of respondent was not sufficient to support the two matters above referred to. Considerable confusion results from its discussion, by failure to distinguish the cause of damage for the two years separately.

The points raised by appellant are purely evidentiary. It relies on the proposition that the evidence does not support the trial court's findings. Rather than inject an extended discussion of the evidence in this part of the brief, this evidence will be set out under the points raised by respondent herein.

No legal problems are involved, or raised, in appellant's brief.

Substantially all of appellant's defense, in the presentation of its evidence, was directed to the fact that a flash flood of the Jordan River, in the latter part of

May 1948, caused water to stand on a portion of respondent's farm, described as Area 5, for a period of four or five days. No damage is asked, nor was any judgment given, as a result of the conditions caused by this flash flood in Area 5, and the positive evidence is that crops were produced on this area in the year of 1948.

Plaintiff's case and evidence was directed entirely to the damage caused by water overflowing the banks for the year 1948. And, if the matter of the flash flood is eliminated from the evidence presented in behalf of appellant for this year, there is no defense presented, at all, for the year 1948.

Respondent will not undertake to reproduce the diagram, Exhibit "M", inasmuch as it has been copied on Page 5 of appellant's brief, and can, therefore, be placed before the reader during the discussion contained herein.

POINT I.

THE PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE SHOWED THAT RESPONDENT'S CROP LOSS IN 1948 WAS THE RESULT OF APPELLANT'S CANAL OVERFLOWING ITS BANKS THROUGHOUT THE SUMMER, AND THAT SUCH OVERFLOWING WAS THE DIRECT RESULT OF THE CONDITION AND MANNER OF OPERATION OF THIS CANAL BY APPELLANT.

The two grounds of negligence alleged for the damage in the year 1948 are:

1. That the canal, at the place where it crossed respondent's farm, was allowed to become run-down and

inadequate to carry the water placed therein by appellant.

2. That appellant diverted too much water into the canal, after notice that it was flooding was given appellant by respondent; i.e., appellant was charged with notice, and did know, that the water placed in the canal, throughout the Summer of 1948, was flooding during the whole Summer.

The evidence of respondent showed that she and her husband had farmed this area for more than forty years (R. 184), and that over this period the ground involved produced good crops. It also stands undisputed that no trouble or damage arose from appellant's operation of this canal, until the Summer of 1948.

It is also undisputed that appellant caused work to be done, by way of cleaning the canal previous to 1948, both immediately North and South of respondent's farm, but that nothing had been done to the particular portion where the canal crossed respondent's land.

The most significant fact, regarding the dispute in the year of 1948, is simply this: that this canal did not flood or overflow its banks during the Summer of 1948 at any place, except on the farm of plaintiff.

And, there is abundant evidence, as will be hereinafter set out in more particular, to the effect that this flooding was caused by the run-down condition of the canal during this period.

It is also important to note that, after the reeds and debris were cleaned from the canal, no flooding occurred in the following year.

These two facts point conclusively to the proposition that it was the condition of the canal that caused the damage.

The Court's attention is directed to the testimony of the following witnesses, substantiating the proposition that the canal had been allowed to reach such a deplorable condition.

Witness Takas (R. 61):

“Q. Was the condition of the canal about the same during the whole season, from Spring to late Summer, of 1948?

A. Yes, it was.

Q. You say it was dirty. Can you characterize it, and tell us what you mean by that?

A. It was full of bulrushes and had weeds, and everything, and rocks in it, so it would not carry the water.

Q. What happened to the water as it went down the canal?

A. The canal was full of bulrushes and stuff, and it had to go over the bank.

Q. Have you seen it go over the bank?

A. Yes, I have.”

Mr. John E. Hill's testimony, in this case, is sufficient in and of itself to support the judgment, as entered herein. This gentleman had been the Bishop of the Ward, and was, at the time he testified, the President of the Stake. His testimony was never impeached, and he was wholly and completely independent, as to either party. With regard to the condition of this canal, in the Summer of 1948, he testified as follows (R. 86):

“Q. In the year 1948, did you have occasion to observe, while you were on the Tsouras farm, the condition of this canal?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you describe it?

A. Yes. The canal was not properly cleaned. It would not take a flow of water because of it not having been cleaned in the Spring of the year, and it was overflowing its banks.

Q. Was the fact that it was overflowing its bank on the Tsouras farm evidenced in the condition of the land and other things?

A. Very, very evident.”

Mr. Domichell, another local farmer, who was familiar with farming conditions in this area and a wholly independent witness, testified as follows (R. 156, 157):

“Q. Did you hear a conversation, or were you a party to a conversation, between Mr. Takas and Mr. Sterzer (Mr. Sterzer was the President of appellant company)?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And yourself?

A. Yes.

Q. What do you recall of that conversation?

A. Well, we were talking about the canal, and he admitted the canal was in poor shape, but he said he could not do nothing about that flooding. Mr. Takas said something had to be done, and he said, “The only thing is to take it to Court and see what you can get.”

Q. At that time, the water was clearly going over the bank?

A. That is right.”

And further (R. 157, 158) :

“Q. In your business there in 1948, did you have occasion to observe the canal proper, as it went through the Tsouras farm?

A. Yes, because I was the watermaster at one time, and I had a ladder. I took care of things. I liked to see them clean.

Q. What was the condition of the canal?

A. The condition of the canal was very poor, very poor. The bulrushes were clear through it.

Q. The bulrushes were all through this canal?

A. Yes (indicating).”

Mr. Domichell farmed land a short distance South of the Tsouras property, on ground very similar. He testified that the canal, as it passed through his farm, had been cleaned in the year of 1947, and that a canal should have the weeds burned out of it every Spring, to be properly maintained (R. 165).

This man was a farmer of considerable experience in raising crops in this area, having done so for over twenty years, and was particularly conversant with the canal in question. At Page 165 of the Record, he testified as follows:

“Q. (By Mr. Mulliner) In your experience, and from your observation of canals, was this canal, from the point A to B, as it crosses the Tsouras farm, in any condition to carry the water they were putting through it? (1948)

A. No.”

Mr. James Tsouras, son of respondent, had lived

on this farm for thirty-four years, and was thoroughly familiar with its history, and the trouble occurring in 1948. He testified (R. 175, and following) :

“Q. What was the condition of the flooding during the Summer (1948)?

A. How do you mean?

Q. Did it flood just in May, or did it keep going on?

A. It flooded all Summer long.

Q. Do you know why it did?

A. The canal was not clean. It was poorly kept.

Q. Too much water for the canal?

A. Too much water and too much bulrushes, and too much dirt picked up in places, for the water to go, and then to back up and go over the bank.

Q. Is that what was going on?

A. Yes.

Q. Had you had any trouble with the flooding prior to 1948?

A. No.”

Mr. Gedge was a director of appellant company during the Summer of 1948, and was called in behalf of respondent. He testified (R. 211) :

“Q. Isn't it a fact that the flooding on the Tsouras farm and your farm was due to the putting in too much water for stockholders to the North?

A. Partly, yes.

Q. (R. 268) At any time, did you observe any other flooding condition during 1948 from the Jordan River into the Brighton and North Point Canal?

A. There was times the canal was too high.

Q. Was that due to the waters from the Jordan River?

A. No."

The foregoing excerpts from testimony of the witnesses is the only testimony, as to the condition of the canal, presented. And, it is directly to the effect that the condition of the canal was very poor, which points undisputably to the proposition that appellant negligently maintained it.

In order to dispel any question that may arise, as to whether the canal overflowed its bank continuously during the Summer of 1948, and caused the damages alleged, and to point decisively to the fact that no damage was caused by the flash flood occurring in 1948, as is apparently the contention of appellant, the following testimony was adduced:

Mr. Takas (R. 62):

"Q. You saw the water go over the banks?

A. Yes.

Q. Between the month of, say, May to September, all that year (1948), how often have you seen it?

A. Well, I haven't got the correct dates on it. I might remember all the dates since May 17th, when they turned the canal in. It practically went over all the year around. I could not say just when. Sometimes it would go over, and sometimes the canal would go down, and it would not go over."

Again, on cross-examination (R. 133, 134):

"Q. Have you observed the water going over

the canal, when it could be diverted into one of those drainage ditches?

A. It was going in a drainage ditch.

Q. It could be easily diverted into one of those drainage ditches or diversion ditches by placing a few shovels of dirt in the diversion point, and diverted down the canal to D, and drain toward the Jordan River; do you think you could do that?

A. If it was just for a matter of one or two days—but the way the water was going all Summer long, we would have to sit there all Summer long to keep the place closed.”

Mr. Domichell confirms this at Page 157 of the Record.

Mr. James Tsouras (R. 169, 170) :

“Q. And during the *Summer* of 1948, did you have, or did you actually see the water flooding in on your mother’s farm?

A. Yes, I saw it in Areas 1, 2, 3 and 4.

Q. On more than one occasion?

A. Yes, at three different occasions.

Q. Will you describe the appearance, what it looked like, what you recall of that?

A. Number 4 was nothing but a swimming hole, and 1, 2, and 3 was not quite a swimming hole, but it would have been a good big “Hunting Club.”

Q. The water was standing there the biggest part of the Summer, was it?

A. Yes.”

Louis Tsouras, husband of respondent (R. 185) :

“Q. Now, in 1948, that is the Summer before

this last one, did you have some trouble with the canal?

A. Yes.

Q. What was that trouble, what happened?

A. The canal flooded the banks, and the water broke out.

Q. Onto your property?

A. Yes, onto my property.

Q. Were you out there every day?

A. Twice a day.

Q. How often would you say this canal was going over the banks?

A. After the 18th of May, every week, pretty near.

Q. Pretty near every week, after the 18th of May? Is that what you said?

A. Yes.

Q. Would it flood on both sides?

A. Both sides."

Mr. Gedge (R. 206) stated: "In my observation, during the Summer there had been evidence of overflowing the banks."

Mr. Sterzer (R. 315, 316) :

"Q. Did you ever have your attention brought to the fact that this canal was flooding their land?

A. Yes; there was a time or two I got word about it, to that effect.

Q. In August?

A. July or August, later in the Summer."

Mr. Koer, the assistant watermaster of appellant company, in testifying about the banks in this par-

ticular portion of the canal, and, after stating that they were wet, answered as follows (R. 410) :

“Q. Was that general throughout the Summer, more or less?

A. Yes, the bank was wet throughout the Summer.”

And, again (R. 414) :

“Q. During the course of your visits there in the Summer, that land was pretty wet most of the Summer, was it not?

A. In a considerable number of places, yes, sir.”

The foregoing testimony indicates conclusively that the water was going over the banks throughout the entire Summer.

The reporter, in compiling the transcript, has made the mistake of calling the witness Koer by the name of Knorr. Mr. Knorr was, at the times involved herein, the watermaster of appellant company, and he was not called as a witness, but his testimony was referred to by way of admission, in a number of instances.

At Page 99 of the Record, Mr. Takas testifies that he was a witness to a conversation, where Mr. Knorr told respondent :

“A. If she takes that to Court, she will get every penny she has coming out of it, because he had asked the canal company to clean out the canal, and they never did it. We asked them to cut the water down. He would cut the water down, and they would turn around and tell him to put more water in.

Q. Did he tell you that?

A. Yes."

Mr. Louis Tsouras (R. 185, 186) :

"Q. Did you have a conversation, at some time during last Summer of 1948, with the watermaster out there?

A. The watermaster called. I told him to cut down the water, but the company said more water. The watermaster told me.

Q. This is what the watermaster told you?

A. Yes.

Q. Say that again, what he told you.

A. I told the watermaster to cut down the water, because it flooded my crops, and he said the company told him to put more water in. He said, "The company asked me to turn more water in"."

Mr. Gedge made the following statement (R. 214) :

"Mr. Tsouras said he did not want any trouble; that he would much rather settle it otherwise. He had worked hard, and I told him I would try to be fair, both being a stockholder and a director, and, you might say, a personal friend of his, and that I would do what I could to settle this thing, so it would be a permanent benefit to them and the canal company. It would be, you might say, the answer to this problem of flooding this farm."

The Court's attention is directed to the photographs admitted as exhibits. One series of these photographs was taken the latter part of August, 1948, and show clearly that Area 4 was nothing but a large lake, admittedly caused by the canal overflowing its banks. These

pictures, and particularly Exhibit "I", show the clogged condition of this canal in the Summer of 1948.

There is also positive testimony that the West bank of the canal, which adjoins Area 4, is higher than the East bank, and, therefore, the only reason that a lake condition was not present on the East bank is that there was drainage there (R. 144, 180).

There is not one word of evidence presented by appellant to the effect that this canal was in good condition, or that it did not overflow the banks during the Summer of 1948.

It is an undisputed fact, also, that the various areas, as set out and described in Exhibit "M", suffered complete and total damage, to the extent that the water reached these areas, and that there resulted therefrom a total crop failure.

Keeping in mind the above testimony and evidence, as to the flooding throughout the Summer, Mr. Gedge, a director at that time of appellant company, fixes the responsibility, in just those terms, upon the canal company for this damage.

At Page 264 of the Record, this testimony appears as follows:

"Q. Coming back to last year, when you saw the water going over the bank here, is there any doubt in your mind but what the canal was responsible for the condition that existed on Area 2 in 1948?

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